

STILL AWARE LIMITED

CONSTITUTION

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	NAME OF THE COMPANY	1
2.	COMPANY STRUCTURE	1
3.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
4.	CHARITABLE PURPOSES AND POWERS	3
5.	MEMBERSHIP	4
6.	GENERAL MEETINGS	6
7.	VOTING	11
8.	DIRECTORS	14
9.	DIRECTORS' MEETINGS	18
1 0.	MINUTES AND RECORDS	19
11.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	19
12 .	FINANCIAL YEAR	20
13 .	INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE	20
14 .	AUDITOR	21
15 .	WINDING UP	21
16 .	ALTERING THIS CONSTITUTION	21

1. NAME OF THE COMPANY

The name of the Company is Still Aware Limited.

2. COMPANY STRUCTURE

2.1. Type of Company

The Company is a not-for-profit public company limited by guarantee which is established to be, and to operate as, a charity.

2.2. Limited liability of Members

The liability of Members is to the amount of the guarantee in clause 2.4.

2.3. The Guarantee

Subject to this Constitution, each person who is a Member and each person who was a Member within 12 months of the day of the commencement of the winding up of the Company, undertakes to contribute to the property of the Company for:

- (a) debts and liabilities of the Company incurred before their Membership ceased; or
- (b) costs, charges and expenses of winding up.

2.4. The guarantee amount

The amount that each Member or past Member is liable to contribute is limited to \$100.

3. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

3.1. Definitions

ACNC Act means the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (Cth);

Annual General Meeting means the Annual General Meeting of the Company conducted every financial year in accordance with clause 6.3 and the Corporation Act 2001 (Cth);

Applicant means a person who applies for Membership pursuant to clauses 5.2 and 5.3;

Board of Directors means the Board of Directors of the Company;

Company means the Company referred to in clause 1;

Constitution means this Constitution of the Company:

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth);

Date of Membership means the day the Member was entered onto the Register of Members and his or her Membership was effected;

Date of Termination means the day the Member's details were removed from the Register of Members and his or her Membership was terminated;

Elected Chairperson means the person elected by the directors as the chairperson of the Company under clause 6.4(a);

General Meeting means a meeting of Members called by directors under clause 6.1, or by Members under clause 6.2;

Initial Director means a person who has agreed to act as a director of the Company and who is named as a proposed director in the application for registration of the Company;

Initial Members means a person who is named in the application for registration of the Company, with their consent, as a proposed Member of the Company;

Register of Members means the Register of Members of the Company to be kept pursuant to the Corporations Act 2001;

Member means Member of the Company pursuant to clause 5 (and Membership has the corresponding meaning);

Objects means the objects of the Company set out in clause 4.1;

Registered Charity means a charity that is registered under the ACNC Act;

Secretary means the person appointed as Secretary of the Company by the directors pursuant to clause 8.10;

Special Resolution means a resolution that has been passed by at least 75% of the votes cast by Members present and entitled to vote on the resolution;

Surplus Assets means any assets of the company that remain after paying all debts and other liabilities of the company, including the costs of winding up.

3.2. Interpretation

In this Constitution unless there is something in the subject or context which is inconsistent:

- (a) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (b) each gender includes the other two genders;
- (c) the word "person" means a natural person and any partnership, association, body or entity whether incorporated or not;
- (d) the words "writing" and "written" include any other mode of representing or reproducing words, figures, drawings or symbols in a visible form;
- (e) where any word or phrase is defined, any other part of speech or other grammatical form of that word or phrase has a cognate meaning;
- (f) a reference to any clause or schedule is to a clause schedule of this Constitution;
- (g) a reference to an act includes every amendment, re-enactment, or replacement of that Act and any subordinate legislation made under that Act (such as regulations).

3.3. Headings

Headings do not form part of or affect the construction, or interpretation of this Constitution.

4. CHARITABLE PURPOSES AND POWERS

4.1. Objects

The Company is a charitable institution and a health promotion charity within the meaning provided by the Income Taxation Assessment Act 1997. The Objects of the Company are to:

- (a) to promote prevention of diseases of mothers causing loss of life or threatened loss of life of human foetuses after 20 weeks gestation and before or at birth;
- (b) to promote prevention of diseases causing loss of life or threatened loss of life of human foetuses after 20 weeks gestation and before, at, or during birth as a result of any uterine related malfunction or otherwise of the mother whether in relation to malfunction of the placenta, umbilical cord, amniotic fluid, liver, toxaemia or other currently unknown cause;
- (c) to promote the prevention of psychological harm to mothers arising from the loss of life of their human foetuses after 20 weeks gestation and before at or during birth;
- (d) to promote awareness of mothers' uterine health conditions which can potentially affect the health and viability of human foetuses after 20 weeks gestation and before birth;
- (e) to raise awareness of conditions relating to, in, or affecting the womb and any uterine related disease that could impact the health and endurance of a mother's placenta or uterine by-product and therefore the wellbeing and life of a human foetus after 20 weeks gestation and before, at, or during birth;
- (f) to promote the prevention of any adverse disease or health condition of a mother being a condition which increases the risk of the prospect of a human foetus being born still including but not limited to placental abruption or other malfunction of the placenta, pre-eclampsia, obstetric cholestasis, diabetes or other condition;
- (g) to promote the early detection of any adverse health condition to a mother as mentioned in other objects which is capable of increasing the risk of a human foetus being born still;
- (h) to provide education to pregnant mothers and others to further the achievement of the objects above;
- (i) to raise funds for the above purposes;
- (j) to co-operate with other associations whose objectives are similar to those of the Association in Australia

4.2. Powers

The Company has all the powers of a Company limited by guarantee under the Corporations Act 2001, and to carry out its Objects set out in clause 4.1.

4.3. Income and Property

- (a) The Company's income and property must be supplied solely towards promoting the Company's Objects in clause 4.1;
- (b) The Company must not distribute any income or assets directly or indirectly to its Members, except as provided in clauses 4.3(c), (d) and 15.
- (c) No income or property of the Company will be paid, transferred or distributed, directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise to any Member of the Company. However, nothing in this Constitution will prevent payment in good faith to a Member or their associates in return for any services rendered, goods supplied or expenses incurred in carrying out the Objects under clause 4.1.
- (d) No directors fees may be paid to the directors. All other payments to directors must be approved by directors, including but not limited to:
 - (i) out-of-pocket expenses incurred by a director in performing a duty as a director of the Company; and
 - (ii) for any service rendered to the Company by the Director in a professional or technical capacity, other than in a capacity as Director, where, where the provisions of the service has the prior approval of the Board and is not more than an amount which commercially would be reasonable for the service.
- (e) This rule does not prohibit identification of, or payment of premiums on contracts of insurance for, any director to the extent permitted by law and this Constitution.

5. MEMBERSHIP

5.1. Membership and Register of Members

- (a) The Members of the Company are:
 - (i) initial Members; and
 - (ii) any person that the directors allow to be a Member, in accordance with this Constitution.
- (b) The Company must establish and maintain a Register of Members. The Register of Members must be kept by the Secretary and must contain each Member's:
 - (i) name;
 - (ii) address; including any alternative address nominated by the Member for the service of notices; and
 - (iii) Date of Membership.

- (c) The Register of Members must also include persons who have been Members within the last seven (7) years. The Register of Members must contain each Member's:
 - (i) name;
 - (ii) address, including any alternative address nominated by the Member for the service of notices, and
 - (iii) term of Membership, including the Date of Membership and Date of Termination.
- (d) The Company must allow Members access to the Register of Members.
- (e) Information that is accessed from the Register of Members must only be used in a manner relevant to the interests or rights of Members.

5.2. Who can be a Member

A person who supports the Objects of the Company listed under clause 4.1, and is eligible to apply to be a Member of the Company under clause 5.3.

5.3. Application for Membership

A person may apply for Membership to the Company by writing to the Secretary to the effect that they:

- (a) wish to be a Member;
- (b) support the Objects of the Company; and
- (c) agree to comply with this Constitution.

5.4. Consideration of Membership application

- (a) At the first Board of Directors meeting after an application for Membership has been received by the Secretary, the Board of Directors must consider the application and either accept or reject the application.
- (b) The Board of Directors are not required to provide any reasons for its determination.

5.5. Registration of Member

- (a) If the Board of Directors accept an application for Membership, as soon as practicable, the Secretary must enter the Member on the Register of Members and write to the Applicant to notify them that their application has been approved.
- (b) Other than Initial Members, an Applicant will become a Member when they are entered on the Register of Members.

5.6. When Membership ceases

A Member will cease as a Member of the Company if they:

(a) die;

- (b) are wound up, dissolved or deregistered;
- (c) resign as a Member by giving written notice to the Secretary;
- (d) are expelled pursuant to clause 5.7; or
- (e) fail to respond to a written request from the Secretary within thirty (30) days.

5.7. Expulsion

- (a) The directors may by resolution expel a Member from the Company if, in their absolute discretion, they decide it is not in the interests of the Company for the person to remain a Member.
- (b) If the directors intend to propose a resolution under clause 5.7(a), at least one (1) week before the meeting at which the resolution is to be proposed, they must give the Member written notice:
 - (i) stating the date, place and time of the meeting;
 - (ii) setting out the intended resolution and the grounds on which it is based; and
 - (iii) informing the Member that he or she may attend the meeting and may give an oral or written explanation or submission before the resolution is put to the vote.

5.8. Membership Entitlements Not Transferable

A right, privilege or obligation which a person has by reason of being a Member of the Company:

- (a) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and
- (b) ceases on the Date of Termination.

6. GENERAL MEETINGS

6.1. General Meetings called by directors

- (a) The directors may call, and arrange to hold a General Meeting as they think fit.
- (b) A director may call a director's meeting by giving reasonable notice to all of the other directors.
- (c) A director may give notice in writing or by any other means of communication that has previously been agreed to by all the directors.
- (d) A notice of a General Meeting must:
 - (i) specify the date, time and place of the meeting;
 - (ii) except as provided by the Corporations Act, state the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting; and
 - (iii) specify a place and e-mail address for the receipt of proxies.

- (e) A person may waive notice of a General Meeting by written notice to the Company.
- (f) If Members with at least 5% of the votes that may be cast at a General Meeting make a written request to the Company for a General Meeting to be held, the directors must:
 - (i) within 21 days of the Members' request, give all Members notice of a General Meeting; and
 - (ii) hold the General Meeting within two (2) months of the Members' request.
- (g) The percentage of votes that Members have (in clause 6.2(a)) is to be worked out as at midnight on the day the request is made.
- (h) The Members who make the request for a General Meeting must:
 - (i) state in the request any resolution to be proposed at the meeting;
 - (ii) sign the request; and
 - (iii) give the request to the Company.
- (i) Separate copies of a document setting out the request may be signed by Members if the wording of the request is the same in each copy.

6.2. General Meetings called by Members

- (a) If the directors do not call the meeting within 21 days of being requested under clause 6.1(f), 50% or more of the Members who made the request may call, and arrange to hold a General Meeting.
- (b) To call, and hold a meeting under clause 6.2(a) the Members must:
 - (i) as far as possible, follow the procedures for General Meetings set out in this Constitution:
 - (ii) call the meeting using the Register of Members, which the Company must provide to the Members making the request at no cost; and
 - (iii) hold the General Meeting within three (3) months after the request was given to the Company.
- (c) The Company must pay the Members who request a General Meeting any reasonable expenses they incur as a result of the directors failure to call and hold the meeting pursuant to clause 6.1(f).

6.3. Annual General Meeting

- (a) An Annual General Meeting must be held:
 - (i) within 18 months after registration of the Company; and
 - (ii) after the first Annual General Meeting, at least once in every calendar year.

- (b) Even if these items are not set out in the notice of meeting, the business of an Annual General Meeting may include:
 - (i) a review of the Company's activities;
 - (ii) a review of the Company's finances;
 - (iii) any auditor's report;
 - (iv) the election of directors; and
 - (v) the appointment and payment of auditors (if any).
- (c) Before or at the Annual General Meeting, the directors must give information to the Members on the Company's activities and finances during the period since the last Annual General Meeting.
- (d) The chairperson of the Annual General Meeting must give Members a reasonable opportunity at a General Meeting to ask questions or make comments about the management of the Company.

6.4. General Meeting Chairperson

- (a) The Board of Directors may elect one of the directors as chairperson of the directors (**Elected Chairperson**) and may decide the period for which that director is to be the chairperson for the General Meeting.
- (b) The Elected Chairperson must (if present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting and willing to act) preside as chairperson at each general meeting.
- (c) If at an Annual General Meeting:
 - (i) there is no chairperson of directors;
 - (ii) the chairperson of directors is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting; or
 - (iii) the chairperson of directors is present within that time but is not willing to act as chairperson of the meeting,

the Members present must elect as chairperson of the meeting:

- (iv) another director who is present and willing to act; or
- (v) if no other director present at the meeting is willing to act, a Member who is present and willing to act.
- (d) The chairperson is responsible for the conduct of the General Meeting, and for this purpose must give the Members of reasonable opportunity to make comments and ask questions.
- (e) The chairperson does not have a casting vote.

6.5. Quorum at Annual General Meetings

- (a) No business may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting, except the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the meeting, unless a quorum of Members is present when the meeting proceeds to business matters.
- (b) A quorum consists of:
 - (i) if there is only one Member entitled to vote, that Member; and
 - (ii) in any other case, three (3) Members entitled to vote, unless the Members have fixed a higher number of Members entitled to vote, and present at the meeting.
- (c) If a quorum is not present within thirty (30) minutes after the time appointed for a General Meeting:
 - (i) where the meeting was convened on the requisition of Members, the meeting must be dissolved; or
 - (ii) in any other case, the meeting stands adjourned to the day, and at the time and place, that the directors decide or, if the directors do not make a decision, to the same day in the next week at the same time and place.

6.6. Auditors right to attend General Meetings

- (a) The auditor (if any) is entitled to attend any General Meeting and to be heard by the Members on any part of the business of the meeting that concerns the auditor in the capacity of an auditor.
- (b) The Company must provide to the auditor (if any) any communications relating to the General Meeting that a Member is entitled to receive.

6.7. Decisions at General Meetings

- (a) Except where by law, a resolution requires a special majority. Questions arising at a General Meeting must be decided by a majority of votes cast by the Members present at the meeting. Such a decision is for all purposes a decision of the Members.
- (b) Where the votes on a proposed resolution are equal:
 - the chairperson of the meeting does not have a second or casting vote;
 and
 - (ii) the proposed resolution is taken as lost.
- (c) A demand for a poll does not prevent a General Meeting continuing for the transaction of any business except the question on which the poll has been demanded.
- (d) If a poll is duly demanded at a General Meeting, it must be taken in such manner and either at once or after an interval or adjournment or otherwise, as the chairperson of the meeting directs. The result of the poll is the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.
- (e) A poll demanded at a General Meeting on the election of a chairperson of the meeting or on a question of adjournment must be taken immediately.
- (f) The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

(g) If the Company has only one Member, the Company may pass a resolution by the Member recording it and signing the record.

6.8. Circular Resolution of Members

- (a) Subject to clause 6.8(c), the directors may put a resolution to the Members to pass a resolution without a General Meeting being held (**Circular Resolution**).
- (b) The directors must notify the auditor (if any) as soon as possible that a Circular Resolution has or will be put to Members, and set out the wording of the Circular Resolution.
- (c) Circular Resolutions cannot be used:
 - (i) for a resolution to remove an auditor, appoint a director or remove a director;
 - (ii) for passing a Special Resolution; or
 - (iii) where the Corporations Act, ACNC Act or this Constitution requires a meeting to be held.
- (d) A Circular Resolution is passed if all the Members entitled to vote on the resolution sign or agree to the Circular Resolution, in the manner set out in clause 6.8(e).
- (e) Each Member may sign:
 - (i) a single document setting out the Circular Resolution and containing a statement that they agree to the Circular Resolution; or
 - (ii) separate copies of that document, as long as the wording is the same in each copy.
- (f) The Company may send a Circular Resolution by email to Members and Members may agree by sending a reply email to that effect, including the text of the Circular Resolution in their reply.

6.9. Notice of General Meetings

- (a) Notice of a General Meeting must be given to:
 - (i) each Member entitled to vote at the Meeting;
 - (ii) each director; and
 - (iii) an auditor.
- (b) Notice of a General Meeting must be provided in writing at least 21 days before the meeting.
- (c) Notice of a General Meeting may be provided less than 21 days prior to the meeting:
 - (i) for an Annual General Meeting and where all Members entitled to vote agree beforehand; or
 - (ii) for any other General Meeting, where Members with at least 95% of the votes that may be cast at the meeting agree beforehand.

- (d) A notice of a General Meeting must:
 - (i) specify the date, time and place of the meeting;
 - (ii) state the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting; and
 - (iii) specify a place and fax number or electronic address for the receipt of proxies.
- (e) A person may waive notice of a General Meeting by written notice to the Company.
- (f) A person's attendance at a General Meeting waives any objection that person may have to:
 - a failure to give notice, or the giving of a defective notice, of the meeting unless, at the beginning of the meeting, the person objects to the holding of the meeting; and
 - (ii) the consideration of a particular matter at the meeting which is not within the business referred to in the notice of the meeting, unless the person objects to considering the matter when it is presented.

6.10. Conducting a General Meeting

- (a) A question arising at a General Meeting relating to the order of business, procedure or conduct of the meeting must be referred to the chairperson of the meeting, whose decision is final.
- (b) A Member who takes part in a General Meeting by telephone or other electronic means is taken to be present in person at the General Meeting.

6.11. Adjournment of meetings

- (a) If a quorum is present, a General Meeting must be adjourned if a majority of Members present direct the chairperson to adjourn the meeting.
- (b) Where a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as for an original meeting.

7. VOTING

7.1. Voting Rights

- (a) Subject to this Constitution and to any rights or restrictions attached to any class of Membership, at a General Meeting every Member present has one (1) vote.
- (b) A proxy, attorney or representative is entitled to a separate vote for each Member the person represents, in addition to any vote the person may have as a Member in his or her own right.
- (c) An objection to the qualification of a person to vote at a General Meeting must be:
 - (i) raised before or at the meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered; and

- (ii) referred to the chairperson of the meeting, whose decision is final.
- (d) A vote not disallowed by the chairperson of a meeting under clause 7.1(c) is valid for all purposes.

7.2. How voting is carried out

- (a) Voting must be conducted and decided by:
 - (i) a show of hands;
 - (ii) a vote in writing; or
 - (iii) another method chosen by the chairperson that is fair and reasonable in the circumstances.
- (b) Subject to this Constitution, each Member entitled to vote at a meeting of Members may vote:
 - (i) in person or, where a Member is a body corporate, by its representatives;
 - (ii) by not more than two (2) proxies; or
 - (iii) by not more than two (2) attorneys.
- (c) Before a vote is taken, the chairperson must state whether any proxy votes have been received and, if so, how the proxy votes will be cast.
- (d) On a show of hands, the chairperson's decision is conclusive evidence of the result of the vote.
- (e) The chairperson and the meeting minutes do not need to state the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour or against on a show of hands.

7.3. When a vote in writing must be held

- (a) Vote in writing may be demanded on any resolution instead of or after a vote by a show of hands of:
 - (i) at least five (5) Members present;
 - (ii) Members present with at least 5% of the votes that may be passed on the resolution on the vote in writing (worked out as at the midnight before the vote in writing is demanded); or
 - (iii) the Elected Chairperson.
- (b) A vote in writing must be taken when and how the chairperson directs, except in the circumstances prescribed in clause 7.3(c).
- (c) A vote in writing must be immediately conducted, subject to clause 7.2(a)(ii) for:
 - (i) for the election of a chairperson under clause 6.4(c); or
 - (ii) to decide whether to adjourn a meeting pursuant to clause 6.11.
- (d) A demand for a vote in writing under clauses 7.2(a)(ii) and 7.3(c) may be withdrawn.

7.4. Appointment of proxy

- (a) A Member may appoint a proxy (**Appointing Member**) to attend and vote at a General Meeting on their behalf.
- (b) A proxy need not, be a Member of the Company.
- (c) A proxy may be appointed for all General Meetings, or for any number of General Meetings, or for a particular General Meeting.
- (d) An appointment of proxy must be signed by the Appointing Member (**Proxy Form**) and must contain:
 - (i) the Member's name and address;
 - (ii) the Company's name;
 - (iii) the proxy's name or the name of the office held by the proxy; and
 - (iv) the meeting(s) at which the appointment may be used.
- (e) Proxy Forms need not be in any particular form as long as it is in writing, legally valid and signed by, or on behalf of the Appointing Member.
- (f) Proxy Forms must be received by the Company at the Company's registered address at least 48 hours before a meeting. If not, the proxy will not have the authority to vote at a General Meeting or adjourned meeting.
- (g) A proxy does not have the authority to speak, or vote for the Appointing Member at a meeting when the Appointing Member is present at that meeting.
- (h) Unless the Company receives written notice before the start or resumption of a General Meeting at which a proxy votes, a vote cast by the proxy is valid even if, before the proxy votes, the Appointing Member:
 - (i) passes away;
 - (ii) is mentally incapacitated;
 - (iii) revokes the proxy's appointment; or
 - (iv) revokes the authority of a representative or agent who appointed the proxy.

7.5. Voting by proxy

- (a) Unless otherwise provided in Proxy Form, the Proxy Form appointing a proxy is to be taken to confer authority:
 - (i) to agree to a meeting being convened by shorter notice than is required by the Corporations Act, ACNC Act or by this Constitution;
 - (ii) to agree to a resolution being proposed and passed as a Special Resolution at a meeting of which less than the period of notice required by the Corporations Act and ACNC Act has been given;
 - (iii) even though the Proxy Form may refer to specific resolutions and may direct the proxy, attorney or representative how to vote on those resolutions:

- I. to vote on any amendment moved to the proposed resolutions and on any motion that the proposed resolutions not be put or any similar motion;
- II. to vote on any procedural motion, including any motion to elect the chairperson, to vacate the chair or to adjourn the meeting; and
- III. to act generally at the meeting.
- (b) Where a Member appoints two (2) proxies or attorneys to vote at the same General Meeting, the following rules apply:
 - (i) subject to clause 7.5(a)(ii), the appointment is of no effect and a proxy or attorney may not vote unless each proxy or attorney (as applicable) is appointed to represent a specified proportion of the Member's voting rights;
 - (ii) if the Corporations Act precludes the company from treating as invalid the appointment of two (2) proxies which fails to specify the proportion or number of votes that each may exercise, each person appointed may exercise half the Member's votes:
 - (iii) on a show of hands, neither the proxy or attorney may vote;
 - (iv) on a poll, each proxy or attorney may only exercise the voting rights the proxy or attorney represents; and
 - (v) if both appointments cannot be validly exercised at the meeting, the later appointment revokes the earlier appointment of a proxy or attorney.
- (c) The Proxy Form appointing a proxy may direct the manner in which the is to vote in respect of a particular resolution and, where an instrument so provides, the proxy is not entitled to vote on the proposed resolution except as directed in the Proxy Form.

8. DIRECTORS

8.1. Number of directors

- (a) Subject to this clause 8.1, the Company must have:
 - (i) at least three (3) directors; and
 - (ii) not more than nine (9) directors.
- (b) If the number of directors is reduced to fewer than three (3) or is less than the number required for a quorum, the continuing directors may act for the purpose of increasing the number of directors to three (3) (or higher if required for a quorum) or calling a General Meeting, but for no other purpose.

8.2. Election and appointment of directors

- (a) Apart from the initial directors and directors appointed under clause 8.4, the Members may elect a director by a resolution passed in a General Meeting.
- (b) Each of the directors must be appointed by a separate resolution, unless:

- (i) the Members present have first passed a resolution that the appointments may be voted on together; and
- (ii) no votes were cast against that resolution.

8.3. Eligibility

A person is eligible for election as a director of the Company if they:

- (a) are a Member of the Company, or a representative of a Member of the Company (appointed under clause 5);
- (b) are nominated by two (2) Members or representatives of Members entitled to vote (unless the person was previously elected as a director at a General Meeting and has been a director since that meeting);
- (c) give the Company their signed consent to act as a director of the Company; and
- (d) are not ineligible to be a director under the Corporations Act or ACNC Act.

8.4. Relief director

The director may appoint a person as a director to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director if that person:

- (a) is a Member, or a representative of a Member (appointed under clause 5);
- (b) gives the Company their signed consent to act as a director of the Company; and
- (c) is not ineligible to be a director under the Corporations Act or the ACNC Act.

8.5. Vacation of Office

The office of a director becomes vacant:

- (a) if the director resigns by written notice to the Company;
- (b) if the director becomes of unsound mind or a person who is, or whose estate is, liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health;
- (c) if the director is removed by a resolution of Members in accordance with section 203D of the *Corporations Act*;
- (d) if the director is absent for three (3) consecutive directors' meetings without approval from the directors:
- (e) if the director becomes ineligible to be a director of the Company under the Corporations Act or the ACNC Act; and
- (f) in event of the director's death.

8.6. Powers of directors

- (a) The directors are responsible for managing and directing the activities of the Company to achieve the Objects in clause 4.1.
- (b) the directors may exercise all the Company's powers to:
 - (i) borrow or otherwise raise money;
 - (ii) charge any property or business of the Company; and
 - (iii) issue debentures or give any other security for a debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any other person.

- (c) The directors may decide how cheques, promissory notes, bankers drafts, bills of exchange or other negotiable instruments must be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or otherwise executed (as applicable) by or on behalf of the Company.
- (d) The directors may pay out of the Company's funds all expenses of the promotion, formation and registration of the Company and the vesting in it of the assets acquired by it.
- (e) The directors may:
 - appoint or employ a person to be an officer, agent or attorney of the Company for the purposes, with the powers, discretions and duties (including powers, discretions and duties vested in or exercisable by the directors), for the period and on the conditions they think fit;
 - (ii) authorise an officer, agent or attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, discretions and duties vested in the officer, agent or attorney; and
 - (iii) subject to any contract between the Company and the relevant officer, agent or attorney, remove or dismiss any officer, agent or attorney at any time, with or without cause.
- (f) A power of attorney may contain any provisions for the protection and convenience of the attorney or persons dealing with the attorney that the directors think fit.
- (g) The directors cannot remove a director or auditor. Directors and auditors may only be removed by a Members' resolution at a General Meeting pursuant to clause 6.7.
- (h) The directors may delegate any of their powers and functions to a committee, a director, an employee of the Company or any other person, as they consider appropriate. The delegation must be recorded in the Company's minutes.

8.7. Duties of directors

The directors must comply with their duties as directors under legislation and common law, and with the duties described in governance standard 5 of the regulations under the ACNC Act which are:

- (a) to exercise their powers and discharge their duties with the degree of care and diligence that a reasonable individual would exercise of they were a director of the Company;
- (b) to act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and to further the charitable purpose(s) of the Company set in clause 4.1;
- (c) not to misuse their position as a director;
- (d) not to misuse information they gain in their role as a director;
- (e) to disclose any perceived or actual material conflicts of interest in the manner set out in clause 8.8;
- (f) to ensure that the financial affairs of the Company are managed responsibly; and
- (g) not to allow the Company to operate while it is insolvent.

8.8. Conflict of Interest

- (a) A director must disclose the nature and extent of any actual or perceived material conflict of interest in a matter that is being considered at a meeting of directors (or that is proposed in a circular resolution):
 - (i) to the other directors; or
 - (ii) if all of the directors have the same conflict of interest, to the Members at the next General Meeting, or at an earlier time if reasonable to do so.
- (b) The disclosure of a conflict of interest by a director must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
- (c) Each director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is being considered at a meeting of directors (or that is proposed in a circular resolution) must not, except as provided under clause 8.8(d):
 - (i) be present at the meeting while the matter is being discussed; or
 - (ii) vote on the matter.
- (d) A director may still be present and vote if:
 - (i) their interest arises because they are a Member, and the other Members have the same interest:
 - (ii) their interest relates to an insurance contract that insures, or would insure, the director against liabilities that the director incurs as a director of the Company;
 - (iii) their interest relates to a payment by the Company under clause 13.2 (indemnity), or any contract relating to an indemnity that is allowed under the Corporations Act; or
 - (iv) the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) makes an order allowing the director to vote on the matter.

8.9. Payments for directors

- (a) The Company must not pay fees to a director for acting as a director.
- (b) The Company may:
 - (i) pay a director for work undertaken for the Company, other than as a director, if the amount is no more than a reasonable fee for the work done, or
 - (ii) reimburse a director for expenses properly incurred in connection with the affairs of the company.
- (c) Any payment made under clause this clause 8.9(b) must be approved by the Board of Directors.
- (d) The Company may pay premiums for insurance indemnifying directors, as allowed under the Corporations Act and this Constitution.

8.10. Secretary

(a) The Company must have at least one Secretary.

- (b) The Secretary may also be a director.
- (c) A Secretary must be appointed by the directors (after giving the Company their signed consent to act as secretary of the Company) and may be removed by the directors, at any time.
- (d) The directors must decide the terms and conditions under which the Secretary is appointed, including any remuneration.
- (e) The role of the secretary includes:
 - (i) maintaining the Register of Members; and
 - (ii) maintaining the minutes and other records of General Meetings (including notices of meetings), directors' meetings and circular resolutions.

9. DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

9.1. Convening of directors' meeting

- (a) A director may convene a directors' meeting whenever he or she thinks fit.
- (b) A Secretary must, on requisition of a director, convene a meeting of the directors.
- (c) A director may call a directors' meeting by giving reasonable notice to all of the other directors.
- (d) A director may give notice in writing or by any other means of communication that has previously been agreed to by the directors.

9.2. Chairperson for directors' meetings

- (a) The Elected Chairperson must (if present within fifteen (15) minutes after the time appointed for the meeting and willing to act) preside as chairperson at each general meeting.
- (b) If at the meeting of directors:
 - (i) the Elected Chairperson is not present within fifteen (15) after the time appointed for the meeting; or
 - (ii) the Elected Chairperson is present within that time but is not willing to act as a chairperson of the meeting,

the directors present must elect one of the directors as chairperson of the meeting.

9.3. Quorum at directors' meetings

- (a) Unless the directors determine otherwise, the quorum for a directors' meeting is a majority (more than 50%) of directors.
- (b) A quorum must be present for the whole directors' meeting.

10. MINUTES AND RECORDS

10.1. Minutes of meetings and meetings of resolutions

- (a) The directors must ensure minutes of proceedings and resolutions of General Meetings and of meetings of directors (including committees of directors) are recorded in books kept for the purpose, within one month after the relevant meeting is held.
- (b) The directors must ensure minutes of resolutions passed by directors (and committees of directors) without a meeting are recorded in books kept for that purpose within one (1) month after the resolution is passed.
- (c) The minutes of a meeting must be signed within a reasonable time by the chairperson of the meeting or the chairperson of the next meeting.

10.2. Financial and related records

- (a) The company must make and keep written financial records that:
 - (i) correctly record and explain its transactions and financial position and performance, and
 - (ii) enable true and fair financial statements to be prepared and to be audited.
- (b) The Company must also keep written records that correctly record its operations.
- (c) The Company must retain its records for at least seven (7) years.
- (d) The directors must take reasonable steps to ensure that the Company's records are kept safe.

11. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- (a) This clause sets out the procedure to be undertaken where a dispute arises between a Member or director and:
 - (i) one or more Members:
 - (ii) one or more directors; or the Company
- (b) Any dispute or difference between the parties listed in clause 11(a) must be resolved in the following manner:
 - (i) a written notice of the dispute, accurately identifying and describing the matter(s) in dispute shall be given to the Secretary (**Dispute Notice**);
 - (ii) within seven (7) days of a Dispute Notice being issued by either party, the two parties shall meet at a mutually agreed location and use their respective best endeavours to resolve the dispute;
 - (iii) if the parties do not settle the dispute within seven (7) days, the parties must notify the board of directors of the dispute in writing and agree to attend mediation;
 - (iv) the mediator will be chosen by mutual agreement of both parties;
 - (v) where those involved do not reach an agreement:

- I. for disputes between Members, a director will choose the mediator; or
- II. for other disputes, a mediator will be chosen by either the Commissioner of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission or the President of the Law Society in the said state or territory in which the Company has its registered office.
- (vi) the costs of the mediation will be borne equally by the parties.
- (c) The mediator chosen by the directors under clause 11(b)(v)(l):
 - (i) may be a Member or former Member;
 - (ii) must not have a personal interest in the dispute; and
 - (iii) must not be biased towards or against anyone involved in the dispute.

12. FINANCIAL YEAR

The Company's financial year is from 1 July to 30 June, unless the directors pass a resolution to change the financial year.

13. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

13.1. Persons to whom the indemnity and insurance apply

The indemnity and insurance referred to in this clause apply to the following individuals (indemnified officers):

- (a) each person who is or has been a director or executive officer (within the meaning of clause 8.2 of the Constitution); and
- (b) any other officers or former officers of the Company as the directors in each case decide.

13.2. Indemnity

- (a) The Company must indemnify, on a full indemnity basis and to the full extent permitted by law, each indemnified officer against all losses or liabilities (including costs and expenses) incurred by the person as an officer of the Company.
- (b) This indemnity:
 - is a continuing obligation and is enforceable by an indemnified officer even though that person has ceased to be an officer of the Company; and
 - (ii) operates only to the extent that the loss or liability in question is not covered by insurance.

13.3. Insurance

The company may, to the extent permitted by law:

(a) purchase and maintain insurance; or

(b) pay or agree to pay a premium for insurance,

for any indemnified officer against any liability incurred by the person as an officer of the Company where the directors consider it appropriate to do so.

13.4. Savings

Nothing in this clause:

- (a) affects any other right or remedy that an indemnified officer may have in respect of any loss or liability referred to in this indemnity or insurance; or
- (b) limits the capacity of the Company to indemnify or provide or pay for insurance for any person to whom this rule does not apply.

14. AUDITOR

The Company must appoint a qualified auditor whose duties will be regulated in accordance with the Corporations Act.

15. WINDING UP

(a) If the Company is wound up or its deductible gift recipient endorsement is revoked (under Division 30 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997) for any reason, any property that remains after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities must be transferred to another fund, authority or institution to which income tax deductible gifts can be made and which has the same or similar Objects as the Company.

16. ALTERING THIS CONSTITUTION

- (a) The Company must not pass a Special Resolution making a material alteration to, or materially affecting, clauses 4.1, 4.3 or 15, or any other alteration to the Constitution, if, as a result, the Company is no longer charitable.
- (b) The Company must notify the Commissioner if:
 - (i) A Special Resolution is passed materially altering clauses 4.1, 4.3 or 15; or
 - (ii) The Company is no longer eligible to be endorsed as charitable or as a deductible gift recipient under Subdivision 30-BA of Income Taxation Assessment Act 1997 (Cth), as a result of a change in its Constitution or activities or otherwise.